S189733

1/A123957

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

-v-

MICHAEL DAVID CORNETT,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JAN 13 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO EXHAUST STATE REMEDIES

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior
Court of the State of California for the
County of Sonoma No. SCR 504048

THE HON. RENE AUGUSTE CHOUTEAU, JUDGE

OZRO WILLIAM CHILDS
SBN 46364
1622 Fourth Street
Santa Rosa, CA 95404
Telephone (707) 527-9911

Attorney for appellant
(by appointment -- First
District Appellate Project--
independent case system)

RECEIVED

JAN 13 2011

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO EXHAUST STATE REMEDIES

TO THE HONORABLE TANI CANTIL-SAKAUYE, Chief Justice,
and to the honorable associate justices of the California Supreme Court:

COMES NOW MICHAEL DAVID CORNETT, appellant herein,
and respectfully petitions this court for review of the decision of the Court
of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Two decided by written
opinion filed December 6, 2010. A Petition for Rehearing was not filed. A
copy of the partially published opinion is attached hereto.

This Petition for Review is filed pursuant to California Rules of
Court, Rule 8.508, because it presents no grounds for review under Rule
8.500 (b) and the petition is filed solely to exhaust state remedies for
federal habeas corpus purposes.

BRIEF STATEMENT OF THE UNDERLYING PROCEEDINGS

On August 29, 2007, appellant MICHAEL DAVID CORNETT was
charged by Information with sexual offenses against his two stepdaughters,
Jane Doe 1 and Jane Doe 2. Against Jane Doe 1, he was charged with
forcible oral copulation by a prior offender (Count 1, Pen Code §269, subd.
(a)(4)); with oral copulation of a child under 14 (Count 2, Pen. Code §288a,
subd. (c)(1); with oral copulation on a person 10 years of age or younger

(Pen. Code §288.7, subd. (b); and with an additional lewd act on the same date (Count 7, Pen. Code §288, subd. (a).)

With respect to Jane Doe 2, he was charged with three separate lewd acts occurring at different times (Counts 3, 4, 5). With respect to each count it was charged that he had a prior conviction under Penal Code section 288, rendering him punishable as a “habitual sexual offender” (Pen. Code §667.71.) He was convicted on each count and convicted of the enhancement, and also of having committed offenses under the “One Strike Law”, involving substantial sexual conduct and offenses against more than one victim (Penal Code section 667.61, subdivisions (b) and (e)(5).) Moreover, appellant’s prior conviction was a strike, making him liable to a double prison term (Pen. Code §1170.12) and also a serious felony, making him liable to a five-year enhancement to any prison term imposed (1 CT 33-42 [Information], 2 CT 371 [verdicts].)

On January 27, 2009, appellant was sentenced to a determinate term of 10 years in state prison, plus an indeterminate term of 150 years to life. As we make no contentions on appeal as to sentence, the basis for the sentence may be omitted. On February 4, 2009, appellant filed his timely Notice of Appeal (2 CT 380). On December 6, 2010, the Court of Appeal reversed the conviction on Counts 6 and 7, but this did not affect appellant’s prison term as the sentence on that count had imposed concurrently.

**BRIEF STATEMENT OF THE FACTUAL AND LEGAL BASES OF
THE CLAIM**

Appellant was arrested because his stepson observed him performing an act of oral copulation on Jane Doe 1, and he was convicted of this offense based on her testimony, her brother's testimony, and a DNA test that showed he had deposited saliva on her genitals. He was also convicted of additional offenses against Jane Doe 1 and against her sister Jane Doe 2, based on testimony that was often vague and uncertain, and based on the transcript of an interview conducted with Jane Doe 2 as a part of the investigation (at trial, Jane Doe 1 expressly denied any improper touching other than the oral copulation, but Jane Doe 2 claimed her sister had touched appellant's penis).

Pursuant to Evidence Code section 1360, the prosecutor was permitted to play most of the videotaped interview with Jane Doe 2, which was substantially clearer and more incriminating than her testimony at trial. No representative of appellant was present at this "forensic interview."

We made the following contentions below, with respect to this evidence:

ADMISSION OF THE VIDEOTAPED INTERVIEW WITH
JANE DOE 2 DENIED APPELLANT HIS SIXTH
AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONT THE
WITNESSES AGAINST HIM

Prior to trial, the People moved pursuant to Evidence Code 1360, *People v. Poggi* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 306, and *People v. Brown* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 746, to admit Exhibit 23, the videotape of the interview of Jane Doe 2 by Susan Levi of the Redwood Children's Center (1 CT 164). The court heard the motion in limine, and announced that it would allow the evidence, if not cumulative (2 RT 44). Defense counsel did not object (3 RT 428).

Thereafter, the videotape was authenticated by Ms. Levi, and the tape was allowed in without further objection (3 RT 428) and played for the jury (3 RT 455-456). A transcript of the interview is in the appellate record (Aug. CT 64 –73).

We will argue that after *Crawford v. Washington* (2004) 541 U.S. 36, the evidence was inadmissible.

A. Evidence Code section 1360 provided the sole ground for admissibility of the videotaped interview of Jane Doe 2.

Evidence Code section 1360 allows admission of all statements of a child describing acts of child abuse or neglect, if the court determines they are reliable, and the child either testifies at the proceedings or is unavailable as a witness, but his or her statements are corroborated by other evidence.

The hearsay rule as to such statements has been repealed; accordingly, such evidence is admitted for the truth of the matters stated therein. In contrast, *People v. Brown, supra*, simply allowed evidence of the time and circumstances of the first complaint of sexual abuse in order to assist the jury in its evaluation of the veracity of the complaint. The details of the complaint should ordinarily not be repeated, and the jury must be instructed that the complaint is not to be used as positive evidence that the complained-of molestation took place. (8 Cal.4th at pp. 761-762, 763). *People v. Poggi, supra* deals with spontaneous declarations and it was not contended that Susan Levi's interview of Jane Doe 2 at the Redwood Children's Center was a spontaneous declaration.

Nor was there any attempt to introduce some portion of the statements as a prior inconsistent statement (Evid. Code §1235); indeed Jane Doe 2's testimony was not, as it related to what appellant did to *her*, substantially inconsistent with what she had told Susan Levi. Because defense counsel did not cross-examine Doe 2 on any prior inconsistent statements, and did not claim that her testimony was "recently fabricated" or influenced by bias or other improper motive, there was likewise no ground for admission of the interview as a prior consistent statement, because prior consistent statements may only be admitted to rehabilitate a witness (Evid. Code §791).

Accordingly, the *only* basis for admission of the videotaped interview was Evidence Code section 1360.

B. Admission of the evidence violated the Confrontation Clause.

(1) Constitutional and decisional background

The Sixth Amendment lists trial rights of federal defendants; these include the right “to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” California has an identical provision (Calif. Const., art. I, §15). It has long been the case that while the states may fashion their own rules of evidence, the broad admission of unreliable hearsay in a criminal case denies a criminal defendant due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment. In *Ohio v. Roberts* (1980) 448 U.S. 56, 57 the Supreme Court held that where new or nontraditional exceptions to the hearsay rule allow admission of evidence against a defendant, the Confrontation Clause is violated unless it can be shown that the evidence obtained has “particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.” In *Idaho v. Wright* (1990) 497 U.S. 805, 820, the United States Supreme Court held that new and untraditional exceptions to the hearsay rule violate the confrontation clause unless the evidence is so reliable that “the test of cross-examination would be of marginal utility.”

However, in *People v. Eccleston* (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 436, the Court of Appeal upheld the statute against a challenge based on the

Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment. Because section 1360 requires the trial judge to deny admission of the evidence unless the “time, content and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability”, the statute does not violate the principles stated in *Ohio v. Roberts* and *Idaho v. Wright*. Until 2004, no published opinion disagreed with *Eccleston* on this point.

Then the United States Supreme Court decided *Crawford v. Washington* (2004) 541 U.S. 36. In this opinion, sometimes described as a “bombshell”, the High Court held that *Ohio v. Roberts* was wrongly decided, insofar as it allowed the admission of “testimonial” hearsay, of the sort that would have been inadmissible in 1791, when the Bill of Rights was ratified by the States. “Testimonial” hearsay is the functional equivalent of an affidavit, and includes police interrogations of suspects and witnesses. There seems to be little doubt that it also includes structured questioning of child victims by organizations that work with the police to provide statements that may later be used in court, as in this case, where by protocol the Redwood Children’s Center conducts interviews of child sexual assault victims, and the police limit their questioning accordingly, so as to reduce the number a times a child must tell her story.

In *People v. Sisavath* (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1396, the Court of Appeal held that after *Crawford*, structured interviews of children do not in and of themselves produce admissible evidence. If the child does not

testify, the statements cannot be used, and to that extent, section 1360 is unconstitutional. The People did not seek review, and *Sisavath* may be regarded as settled law on this point.¹

Sisavath was a case where the child was called as a witness, but like Jane Doe 2 at the preliminary hearing in this case, was unable to answer the questions she was asked; accordingly, she did not qualify as a witness. Here, Jane Doe 2 *did* testify at trial. Obviously her testimony was admissible, but so, the People successfully argued, was her interview by Susan Levi. *Crawford, supra*, does not purport to bar prior statements of a witness who is available for cross-examination at trial. And, under *California v. Green* (1970) 399 U.S. 149, some prior statements of witnesses are admissible in the prosecution's case in chief, at least if admitted as prior inconsistent statements under Evidence Code section 1235.

But what if the sole basis for admission of the statement is Evidence Code section 1360? In the next subsection, we discuss this.

¹ Sisavath did seek review, which was denied on September 15, 2004 (S125799).

(2) Where the child's statements are not deemed to be inconsistent with trial testimony, *California v. Green* does not permit them to be used as evidence in the prosecution's case in chief, and the principles of *Crawford v. Washington* compel exclusion.

The problem in this case is, the testimony of Jane Doe 2 was not truly inconsistent. She did not repudiate what she had said before, and certainly did not remember what she had said before. Standing alone, it is highly doubtful that her testimony would have been believed. She could easily have been coached. In large part, what she said was contradicted by her sister. Although the jury did not learn this, she had been unable, emotionally, to give testimony six months after the alleged crimes, and it seems unlikely that any juror could have had confidence in her ability to remember what happened two years before. The most that could be said is that something like what she described could have happened at some time or some place.

However, what she told Susan Levi on 2007, a "short couple of days" after the event (3 RT 418) suffers from none of these infirmities. She may, even then, have been confused about when things happened, but the events were still fresh in her mind. It was this, and not what she testified to two years later, that was of paramount importance. And the jury was told without equivocation or limitation that this evidence was not only admissible, but could be taken "as evidence that the information in those

earlier statements is true” (2 CT 301, CALCRIM No. 318). These interviews covered most of the counts dealing with Jane Doe 2: She saw appellant’s erect penis and touched it (Aug. RT 64). He pulled down his pants on “night two”, which is the day her brother came down with the camera (Aug. RT 65). This was the same night she and her sister did “flips on the bed” (Aug. RT 66). She saw “white stuff” come out of appellant’s penis, and then appellant told both girls to touch his penis (Aug. CT 67). Previously that evening, he had told both girls to get naked when they bounced on the bed, but had them get dressed again in case someone saw them (Aug. CT 70). And on the previous Saturday, appellant had put his hand in Doe 2’s pants, on her bare butt and on the front part (Aug. CT 72, 73).²

We suggest that *California v. Green, supra*, cannot be taken as authority for the admission of statements by a child witness whose trial testimony is not truly contradicted by the prior statement and who by reason of age and passage of time cannot meaningfully be examined by the defendant’s lawyer. We also suggest that the principles of *Crawford v. Washington* (2004) 541 U.S. 36, 158 L.Ed.2d 117, 124 S.Ct. 1354 require

² In the part of the tape played for the jury, Doe 2 did not claim that appellant had kissed or touched her vagina while she was bouncing naked on the bed. However, the District Attorney argued that according to Doe 1, appellant blew on Doe 2’s vagina, and whether or not he also orally copulated her, it was a violation of Penal Code section 288 to hold her legs and blow on the vagina, with lewd intent (5 RT 671).

exclusion of prior statements as positive evidence in this case. Here, after appellant's arrest, the allegations regarding Jane Doe 2 came to the attention of the police. Rather than interview Doe 2 themselves, the police, following law-enforcement protocol, transported her to the Redwood Children's Center for an interview by a trained sexual-assault interviewer. It can hardly be denied that the purpose of that interview was to obtain and preserve evidence for later use in court. Accordingly, the evidence was the modern equivalent of the Marian process of obtaining *ex parte* evidence in criminal cases, and was "testimonial" (see *People v. Sisavath, supra*). There was, of course, no possibility of cross-examination of Jane Doe 2 while she was being interviewed, and as it turned out, no possibility of cross-examining her at the preliminary hearing. By its terms, the *Crawford* decision only applied to cases where the hearsay declarant did not testify under oath and subject to cross-examination. However, there is substantial authority for the proposition that where testimony is not truly inconsistent with prior statements, it is error to admit them (*People v. Johnson* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1183, 1219, 1220; *People v. Arias* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 92, 153). Logically, if *Green* does not apply, and due to passage of time or immaturity of the declarant, meaningful cross-examination as to the statements is impossible, that error is a violation of the Confrontation Clause. Thus, because the primary purpose of admission of the Levi interview of Jane Doe 2 was to provide credible evidence of what appellant

had done to Doe 2, and not to impeach any inconsistency in her statement, admission of the statement denied appellant his Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against him.

C. Although appellant’s trial counsel did not object, objection would have been futile.

As noted, *Crawford* only considered cases where the hearsay declarant did not testify and was not available for cross-examination. Here, Jane Doe 2 *did* testify. Therefore, *Crawford* would not seem to apply, and, under *Eccleston, supra*, any objection to Judge Antolini’s ruling that the Redwood Children’s Center interview would have been futile. Counsel could, by the terms of the statute, have asked the judge to rule that the “time, content, and circumstances of the statement” did not provide sufficient indicia of reliability (see Evid. Code §1360, subd. (a)(2),) but there clearly was no basis for such an argument. Jane Doe 2 was interviewed relatively soon after the charged events by a trained and impartial interviewer. The statements may or may not have been true, but the manner in which they were taken was not unreliable.

No appellate case has held that where a child witness testifies at trial, the defendant’s right to confrontation has been violated by the admission of prior statements made to the police or similar interviewers. Accordingly, defense counsel could not have had any chance to exclude the statement of

Jane Doe 2. "The law neither ... requires idle acts", Civ. Code §3532, nor punishes defendants when their counsel do not make futile objections. *People v. Hill*, 17 Cal.4th 800, 820 (1998) [reviewing claims on appeal that would have been denied if made to the trial judge]. A defendant need not object if it would have been futile to do so. (*People v. Abbaszadeh* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 642, 648; *People v. Sandoval* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 1425, 1433, fn. 1; see *People v. Boyette* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 381, 432.)

II.

IT WAS LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR TO INSTRUCT THE JURY IN THE LANGUAGE OF CALCRIM NO. 318 THAT THE PRIOR STATEMENT OF JANE DOE 2 WAS AFFIRMATIVE EVIDENCE

A. This contention may be considered on appeal though no objection was made to the jury instruction.

In California, exceptions to jury instructions are preserved, even though no objection was made before. In a case presenting this exact issue, *People v. Solorzano* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 1026, 1038, the Court of Appeal so held, citing Penal Code section 1259 and *People v. Brown* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 518, 539, fn. 7).

B. The instruction should not have been given, because the use of prior statements denies the defendant his right to confront the witnesses against him where the admission of the statements is based on a social policy that admits such statements in child molestation cases, regardless of whether there is a contradiction.

The statements were deemed admissible before the trial began, not based on some expectation that Jane Doe 2 would contradict herself, but because they were clearly admissible under Evidence Code section 1360. It follows that *California v. Green, supra*, has no application to this case. *Green* was based on the supposition that the defendant benefits when a witness recants his testimony at trial. The jury gets to hear the recantation, and it is only fair, and not a violation of the Confrontation Clause, if the jury can hear and act on the contradictory statement given to the police or to other witnesses. We disagree with the Supreme Court on this point, and refer this Court to the dissenting opinion of Justice Brennan in *Green, supra* (339 U.S. 189-203) and cogent and persuasive opinion of Justice Mosk in the underlying case of *People v. Green* (1969) 70 Cal.2d 654. However, we recognize that this Court is in no position to overrule the United States Supreme Court.

However, where there is effectively no contradiction, we do not see that *Green* can apply. Instead, *Crawford* applies, and its principles demand that the statement be excluded, as explained in the previous section.

Accordingly, it was error under the Fourteenth Amendment and the Confrontation Clause to allow the jury to use the videotaped interview with Susan Levi as positive evidence of the crimes that may have been committed.

C. The instruction was prejudicial

If the videotape should have been excluded on constitutional grounds, then it was error to instruct the jury that its contents should be considered as evidence, and the burden is on the People to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless (*Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18). They cannot do so in this case, because it is evident that the prior statement, taken by a skilled interviewer shortly after the alleged events, was worthy of far more belief than the testimony, given two years later, by an eight-year-old girl recounting something that allegedly happened when she was six.

III.

IF OBJECTION WAS REQUIRED TO PRESERVE AN ISSUE FOR APPEAL, FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE VIDEO EVIDENCE CONSTITUTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, DEPRIVING APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS

If this Court deems that some objections were waived or forfeited by failure to object, then that failure was the result of constitutionally

ineffective assistance of counsel.

Reasonably effective assistance includes the filing of appropriate motions (*In re Neely* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 901, 919; *People v. Farley* (1979) 90 Cal.App.3d 851, 868) and making proper objections (*People v. Borba* (1980) 110 Cal.App.3d 989, 994; *People v. Nation* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 169, 181-182). Finally, counsel must know the law as it relates to the case he is trying (*People v. Zimmerman* (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 647, 657; *People v. McCary* (1985) 166 Cal.App.3d 1).

Where a defendant has not received "reasonably effective" assistance of counsel in a criminal trial, he has been denied due process of law under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution (*Strickland v. Washington* (1984) 466 U.S. 668 [80 L.Ed.2d 674, 693, 694, 104 S.Ct 2052]). Ineffective assistance is demonstrated when there has been a failure to act in a manner to be expected of a reasonably competent attorney acting as a diligent advocate (*People v. Pope* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 412, 425). Where the issue is raised on appeal, it must be based on the appellate record; "unless counsel was asked for an explanation and failed to provide one, or unless there simply could be no satisfactory explanation, the claim must be rejected on appeal." (*People v. Kraft* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 978, 1068-1069; *People v. Cunningham* (2001) 25 Cal. 4th 926, 1003).

Here, the only possible reason for not objecting to the admission of the videotape on Constitutional grounds would have been that any objection

would be futile. Yet, if this Court considers whether it was ineffective assistance of counsel not to raise and preserve for appeal constitutional grounds, then this court may have concluded that objection might not have been futile. Or – and this is of paramount importance where appellant is a life prisoner and may benefit from future changes in the law, that it is the duty of trial counsel to preserve, at all costs, objections based on violations of the Bill of Rights and the Fourteenth Amendment.