IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

-V-

MICHAEL DAVID CORNETT,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 2 7 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Sonoma No. SCR 504048

THE HON. RENE AUGUSTE CHOUTEAU, JUDGE

OZRO WILLIAM CHILDS SBN 46364 1622 Fourth Street Santa Rosa, CA 95404 Telephone (707) 527-9911

Attorney for appellant (by appointment -- First District Appellate Project-independent case system)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was tried for and convicted of seven felonies involving the molestation of his two stepdaughters. Because he was a prior offender, he qualified for sentencing under "Jessica's Law" (Pen. Code §269) and also as a second-striker; he was therefore sentenced to 150 years to life on three counts, plus two five-year enhancements for his prior prison term. Sentences on the remaining four counts were either made concurrent or stayed pursuant to Penal Code section 654.

The Court of Appeal upheld the convictions on five of the seven counts and upheld the 160-years-to-life sentence. One of the counts (Count 7) as to which sentence was concurrent was reversed on grounds not relevant here; the other, a conviction for oral copulation under Penal Code section 288.7 (Count 6) as to which sentence was stayed under Penal Code

section 654, was reversed on the ground that Jane Doe 1 was 10 years 11 months old at the time of the offense, and therefore was not "ten years of age or younger" as required by the statute.

Appellant filed a timely petition for review to exhaust state remedies on January 13, 2011, as to those counts sustained on appeal. Respondent filed a Petition for Review on January 18, 2011, seeking to set aside the reversal of Count 6.

ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW

As a rule, statutes designed to punish crimes against minors either apply to all minors or to minors under a certain age (e.g., a "child who is under the age of 14 years" [Pen.Code §288].) Penal Code section 288.7 uniquely punishes certain sexual acts against a "child who is 10 years of age or younger." This phrase has never been interpreted in California. Turning to interpretations of similarly worded statutes in other states, the Court of Appeal found that about half the states that have considered the issue have concluded that a phrase such as "10 years of age or younger" means a child who is exactly ten years of age on the day of the offense, or a child under the age of 10; to interpret the statute as applying to all children in their eleventh year of life would change the plain meaning of the statute to "ten years of age or *older*" (but not yet eleven). The remaining states interpret similar laws to apply to all children who would in common

parlance be called "ten-year-olds". Noting that it is "the policy of this state to construe a penal statute as favorably to the defendant as its language and the circumstances of its application may reasonably permit" (Opinion, p. 29, citing *Keeler v. Superior Court* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 619, 631), and further noting that in *People v. Gutierrez* (1982) 132 Cal.App.3d 281, 283-284, the reviewing court adopted the "rule of lenity" by construing an ambiguous statute literally, the Court of Appeal reversed appellant's conviction on Count 6.

The basis for the review sought by the People is their belief (though unsupported by legislative history) that the Legislature intended section 288.7 to apply to crimes against all children under 11. We believe that prosecutors and judges can live with either interpretation of the statute, which is relatively new, and has evidently seldom been used in cases where the victim is over 10, but under 11. Certainly appellant can live with either version since whether his conviction on the relevant count stands or falls, he is still serving a 160-to-life sentence.

We write this Answer because the People's stated reason for review, that review is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law" (Calif. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500, subd. (b)(1)) is not supported by a review of the reasons given in the Petition for Review. Moreover, the public interest would best be served by a denial of review.

IT IS NOT TRUE THAT CHILDREN BETWEEN THE AGES OF TEN AND ELEVEN ARE A SPECIAL SUBJECT OF ANTI-MOLESTATION LAWS

The Attorney General urges that the "statute's application is now precluded as respects child victims in an age cohort commonly the subject of anti-molestation laws – those children past their 10th birthday who have not yet celebrated their 11th birthday." (Petition, p. 2). This is simply not the case. Children between their 10th and 11th birthday are not singled out for special treatment, but instead are protected by laws that apply with equal force to older children.

The most commonly used law, Penal Code section 288, applies unambiguously to "a child who is under the age of 14 years". The same is true of similar statutes, all of which apply to persons "under the age of 14 years", e.g., Pen. Code §§288.5 [resident child molesters]; 288a, subd. (c)(1) [oral copulation with child under 14 by adult more than 10 years older]; and 286, subd. (c)(1) [sodomy with child under 14 by adult more than 10 years older]. Similar statutes are clearly worded to refer to victims who are "under" a specified, but older, age (e.g., Pen Code §§286, subd. (b)(2); 288a, subd. (b)(2). No other child-molestation statute applies particularly to children under 11.

THE STATUTES CITED BY THE PEOPLE AS BEING AFFECTED BY THE INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 288.7 IN THIS CASE ARE OF LITTLE IMPORTANCE TO THE LAW AND IN SOME INSTANCES ARE BEST INTERPRETED IN THE MANNER SET FORTH BY THE COURT OF APPEAL IN ITS PUBLISHED OPINION. SECTION 288.7 IS THE *ONLY* FELONY STATUTE THAT APPLIES TO CHILDREN "____ YEARS OF AGE OR YOUNGER" RATHER THAN TO CHILDREN UNDER A STATED AGE.

Respondent lists a number of Penal Code sections that, he argues, are affected by this decision (Petition, p. 2). Few are of any substantial importance. The listed statutes are:

Section 273i. This misdemeanor statute punishes publication of information about a child, defined as a "person who is 14 years of age or younger" with intent that another person commit a crime against that child. This rarely used statute almost certainly was not intended to apply to potential crimes against teenagers between their 14th and 15th birthdays, but was instead intended to track Penal Code section 288, which applies only to potential crimes against children under the age of 14.

Section 417.27. Prohibits selling a laser pointer to a person "17 years of age or younger." Punishable as an infraction, with a fine of \$50 for a first offense and \$100 for a subsequent offense.

Section 701.5, subd. (a). Prohibits police officers from using a "person 12 years of age or younger as a minor informant". No criminal

penalty is provided for an officer who violates this subdivision.

Section 861.5. Provides for a one-day continuance of a preliminary examination to accommodate the special needs of a child witness "who is 10 years of age or younger or a dependent person." This procedural provision does not appear to have ever been the subject of a published opinion.

Section 1127f. Specifies a jury instruction to be used when a child "10 years of age or younger" testifies as a witness in a criminal case.

Section 1170.72. Specifies that where specified drug offenses involve a "minor ... 11 years of age or younger", this is a circumstance in aggravation when a felony prison term is imposed under section 1170.

Section 1347. Permits the use of closed-circuit television when a witness "13 years of age or younger" testifies in certain crimes including sexual offenses and violent felonies if the minor would otherwise be "unavailable as a witness."

Section 12088.2. Attorney General is to develop regulations for firearms safety and storage to prevent "injuries to children 17 years of age and younger".

Section 12088.5. Law enforcement agencies to report to State Department of Health when a "child 18 years of age or younger" suffers serious injury or death as a result of an "unintentional or self-inflicted gunshot wound." [Note that a person over the age of 18, but not yet 19, is

not a "child". We assume the intent of the statute was to tabulate injuries to minors; the Legislature therefore probably intended this reporting statute to apply only to minors under the age of 18].

In other words, every single statute allegedly affected by the decision in this case, other than section 288.7 itself, is regulatory or procedural in nature, or imposes no criminal penalty other than a fine. In some of the cited instances, the words "____ years of age or younger" were almost certainly intended to apply only to persons under the stated age. In every case imposing criminal penalties, where the age of a minor victim is relevant, the statute specifies that the penalty applies where the victim is "under the age of 14" or some other specified age. There is in all such criminal statutes no room for disagreement as to what the statute means. Thus, allowing the published opinion to stand will not adversely effect any criminal laws and will have no substantial effect on court procedures or policies.

III.

THE PUBLIC INTEREST WOULD BE SERVED BY A DENIAL OF REVIEW

As the Court of Appeal pointed out in the published portion of its opinion, it is *important* that criminal statutes be written clearly, so there is no doubt about the circumstances under which they apply. Where, as here, the Legislature has consistently used the phrase "under the age of " in

punishing crimes against children of a defined age, it is equally important that the use of unnecessarily ambiguous language should be discouraged. We think the public interest is best served when criminal statutes are clearly written and understandable to all, and where a statute is sloppily drafted and ambiguous, the public is best served if the Legislature is given the opportunity to re-examine the wording of the statute and determine for itself what it intended. This can only happen if the ambiguity of the statute is pointed out in a published appellate opinion.

A grant of review in this case will have the undesirable effect of postponing any resolution by the Legislature of what it intends to punish. If review is denied, the published opinion may prompt the Legislature to amend the statute to include only crimes against children under 11 (or under 10, depending on which age the Legislature thinks is appropriate). As the Court of Appeal said, "The Legislature should take another look at section 288.7 and amend it if the intention was to include as victims children under the age of 11 in subdivision (b)." (Opinion, p. 40).

But if review is granted, there will be a strong temptation to *not* decide whether to amend the statute, because the Opinion in this case will be depublished, and it may take some time for this Court to reach a decision. In the meantime, the proper interpretation of the statute will remain in limbo. A denial of review will, either through legislative action or inaction, make the interpretation of the law certain.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, review should be denied on the issue raised by respondent.